PRELIMINARY STATEMENT


Plaintiff-appellant Hollander appeals from a final order to dismiss with prejudice under Rule 12(b)(6), reported at 340 F.Supp.2d 453 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)(Castel, J.).

Throughout this brief, the following nomenclature applies: cites to the Complaint or Supplemental Complaint (Supp. Complaint) are to numbered paragraphs; cites to the District Court’s Memorandum and Order (“Order”), Order not to disqualify (“Disqualify”) and excerpts from Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Certain Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss (“Opposition”) are to a page number hyphen paragraph, which may or may not be a full paragraph.  References to documents in the Appendix are designated by “A” hyphen page number.  

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDISCTION


The Southern District Court had jurisdiction pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1964(c) of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. §§1961-68.  The District Court had pendent jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367 over state law claims.  This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1291.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1.  Did the District Court misapply the law for determining a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss?

2.  Did the District Court contradict the U.S. Supreme Court, Second Circuit and other courts on what constitutes an injury to business or property under civil RICO 18 U.S.C. 1964(c)?   

3.  Did the District Court contravene holdings of the U.S. Supreme Court, the Second Circuit and other courts by wrongly stating and misapplying the proximate causation element for standing under civil RICO on a motion to dismiss?

4.  Did the District Court abuse its discretion by fabricating a fact, creating a Catch-22, using a trivial excuse and relying on its key misrepresentation of the Complaint to slam the door on even one leave to amend the Complaint?

5.  Did the District Court violate the plaintiff’s due process rights by mixing pro se and attorney standards in deciding to dismiss with prejudice and ignoring the policy behind Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(d) for allowing supplemental complaints?

CASE STATEMENT


The Complaint and Supplemental Complaint of this civil RICO action against a relatively few members and associates of the Russian mafia were dismissed with prejudice, denying plaintiff-appellant leave to file even one amended complaint.  A supplemental complaint is not an amended complaint although the same standard is used in deciding whether to grant either.  Plaintiff-appellant filed post-judgment motions to disqualify and reconsider, both were denied.

FACTS 


The term “Russian mafia” means the Russian International Crime Organization or the “Enterprise” as stated in the Complaint ¶¶ 1, 10-15, A-24, 25-26.  It includes members and associates, such as the defendants; those identified as Russian Mafiosi by law enforcement agencies, including the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s unit on Russian organized crime; various Russian, Chechen, American, Cypriot, Mexican and gangsters of other nationalities; assorted Chechen Islamic terrorists; and the more than thirty Russian gangs now operating in the U.S., notably New York and Miami, Robert I. Friedman, Red Mafiya: How the Russian Mob Has Invaded America, p. xix-xx, Little Brown & Company (2002).  The defendants in this case comprise a small portion (Complaint ¶ 15, A-26, Opposition pp 1-1, 3-1, 28-2, 135-2, A-128) of the very large Russian mafia that reaches across international borders, according to former Central Intelligence Agency Director John Deutsch, Emergency Net News Service, May 3, 1996, Vol. 2-124.  Former F.B.I. Director Louis Freeh said, “Evidence that organized crime activity from [Russia] is expanding and will continue to expand to the United States is well-documented.”  Id.  Russian criminal operations in America, such as money laundering, illegal money transactions, prostitution, narcotics trafficking, extortion and fraud are often carried out in cooperation with La Cosa Nostra.  Report on Russian Organized Crime, 1997, Task Force headed by William H. Webster, Center for Strategic and International Studies.  

The Russian mob, once a hierarchical structure under the Soviet Union, diffused with the end of Communist Party power into a confederation of crime groups using modern-day management principles—something along the lines of a diversified worldwide conglomerate with all its attendant business relationships.  (Complaint ¶¶ 10, 14, 874, A-25, 26, 107-08.)  Freed from scheming for rubles, the smarter members of the Russian mafia chased hard currency by expanding their criminal operations to the wealthy West: full of suckers and sensitive law enforcement officials.  (Complaint ¶ 13, A-26.)  Bringing Russian crime to Western shores meant the continual transplanting of money-making assets into foreign markets where their successful utilization required a strategy of (a) using money from criminal activities to set up and expand Russian mob businesses, such as prostitution, pornography, strip joints, drug pushing and money laundering; (b) protecting those businesses through criminal activities, such as tampering with informants and witnesses, obstructing justice, bribery and coercion; and (c) running the operations by engaging in crimes, such as white slavery, immigration fraud, importing pornography, drug smuggling and the improper use of international facilities.  The Russian mafia uses a complex, intertwined web of predicate acts to maintain and continue expanding its activities in an insatiable drive for new targets and more money, causing widespread and varied harm.  (Complaint ¶¶ 879-85, A-109, 110.)  

This crime syndicate, as with all organizations, consists of and acts through people, and no one victim, or unwitting customer, comes into contact with all the decision-makers and support personnel that go into making that enterprise successful.  But they are there in the shadows supporting those on the front lines, giving aid and direction in order to reach its goals.  

This RICO case concerns just one specific string of events and injuries arising out of the Russian mob bringing prostitutes to New York and other states, passing drugs and large sums of money back and forth between countries, creating and trafficking in pornography, and threatening physical violence to anyone who might get in its way.  

The defendants include the Baraev Chechen crime group (responsible for the 2002 Moscow Theater hostage taking) that defendants Alina and Inessa Shipilina used to threaten plaintiff-appellant Hollander and various witnesses in Krasnodar, Russia; assorted Russian Mafiosi, including a crime boss for southern Russia; corrupt Russian government officials; movers and shakers of Krasnodar; pimps; prostitutes; pornographers; pushers; strip joints and brothels, euphemistically called “exotic dancing clubs” by the District Court, Order 1-1, A-131; Internet call girl operations, euphemistically called “escort agencies” by the District Court, id.; threatening goons; a less than honest City cop; an ex-wife Russian prostitute and procurer; a Russian mother-in-law; and, of course, lawyers.  

The defendants work hard and ingeniously to enrich themselves in furthering a key goal of the Russian mafia: to infiltrate and expand its illegal and ancillary legal activities into hard currency markets, especially the U.S.  (Complaint ¶¶ 2, 13, 27-28, 36, 320-22, 329, 331, 350, 352, 363, 366, 370-71, 375, 377-79, 381-83, 387-88, 390, 403, 410, 426, 429-30, 434-35, 874(m)-(r), A-25, 26-28, 52-63, 108.)  In order to grow and supply the Russian mafia’s sex business in America, the mob uses various methods, such as suckering American men into sponsoring and financing Russian mob prostitutes and procurers for U.S. residency and citizenship involving, unbeknown to the American, a fraudulent marriage.  (Complaint ¶¶ 135-38, 164, 360-61, 883, A-36, 38, 56, 109.)  The fraudulent marriage for citizenship contrivance is the part that ensnared Hollander in the Russian mafia’s Scheme to expand into hard currency markets.  (Complaint ¶¶ 165, 170-72, 174-80, 183, 360-66, 880, A-38, 39-40, 56-57, 109.)  This contrivance falsely depicts Russian mafia prostitutes as honest, moral ladies who want to commit to a marriage since if the truth were told, American men would run the other way.  (Complaint ¶ 883, A-109.)  So, with lies and drugs secretly fed the marks (Complaint ¶¶ 137, 171-72, 175-79, 180, 185, 206, 216, A-36, 39-40, 42-43), American men are convinced they’ve found the one, but it’s really a costly pig in a poke.  

Because the trail of harm involves fraudulent marriages, residencies and naturalizations rather than fraudulent business transactions, the injuries to property interests are no less serious.  A scheme to defraud is measured against a standard of “moral uprightness, of fundamental honesty, fair play and right dealing in the general and business life of members of society.”  Gregory v. US, 253 F.2d 104, 109 (5th Cir.1958).  When criminal instrumentalities exploit human emotions of the heart rather than the pocketbook, a man does not lose his rights under U.S. law, or, at least, that’s the way it used to work in this country.  

  The success of the Russian mafia’s Scheme for one of its cash generating assets, such as defendant Shipilina, first requires transferring the human capital to the New World and slotting her into one or more mob businesses—prostitution, stripping, pornography or procuring.  That step involves the predicate acts of white slavery, 18 U.S.C. 2421 & 2422, importing an alien for immoral purposes, 8 U.S.C. 1328, fraud and the misuse of visas, 18 U.S.C. 1546, failure to file statement about an alien, 18 U.S.C. 2424, and eventually procurement of nationality unlawfully, 18 U.S.C. 1425.  To keep the customers coming back for more from the new asset often means drugs, 21 U.S.C. 841 and 952.  A Russian prostitute and lap-dancer in America easily generates $150,000 tax-free a year.

The income stream can be threatened if the husband or boy-friend finds out the truth and complains to the authorities, or, at least, that’s the way it worked in the old movies.  Protecting the mob’s human capital from deportation, arrest or imprisonment, which would ruin the purpose of its Scheme for any particular asset, often requires mail and wire fraud, 18 U.S.C. 1341 & 1343, use of interstate or international facilities in aid of a racketeering enterprise, 18 U.S.C. 1952, bribery 8 U.S.C. 201, attempting to obstruct a criminal investigation 18 U.S.C. 1510, tampering with a witness and informant, 18 U.S.C. 1512, and even conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire 18 U.S.C. 1958, as in this case.  To assure that the mob’s profits from its asset escape the taxman, money laundering, 18 U.S.C. 1956, and failing to file reports on exporting amounts of over $10,000, 31 U.S.C. 5316, are used.  The Russian mafia’s expansion into the West has created a vertically integrated business of supply, service, protection, profit maximization and reinvestment with a huge appetite for new assets.  

Certain defendants, playing her or his part in the success of the mob’s expansion, committed various predicate acts to get defendant Shipilina into the U.S., keep her here and profit from the ongoing value she creates.   

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

“While not all district courts are hostile to RICO, … [they] often use various devices to restrict it.”  Rakoff & Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal, § 2.03[1], at 2-41 (2005 ed.)  The District Court did just that by rewriting the allegations in the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint, then mistakenly stating and misapplying the law to its newly invented averments to bounce this case out of the lower court for failure to allege a compensable injury and proximate cause.  


The District Court claims: Hollander discovered the RICO Scheme involving defendant Shipilina in August 2000—false; the Complaint alleges harm from RICO violations after August 2000 as mostly resulting from Hollander’s discovery of the Scheme—false; allegations of other injuries after August 2000 were general and conclusory—contradicts Supreme Court rulings; the Complaint didn’t allege RICO injuries prior to August 2000—false; employee termination and shareholder RICO actions apply for determining proximate cause—wrong, Hollander was not an employee of the Russian mob and not terminated by it (at least not yet) and didn’t own its stock; injuries were not to business or property—wrong; the Scheme involving defendant Shipilina only aimed at entry into the U.S.—false; the Complaint did not allege Hollander was an intended victim or target—false, the Court wrongly applied this questionable test; and Hollander did not request leave to amend the Complaint—false. 

ARGUMENT
I.  Rule 12(b)(6) Errors

Did the District Court misapply the law on deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss?

After reciting the law for determining a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, Order 6-3, 7-2, A-136, 137, the District Court proceeded to misapply it.  The Court failed to accept all of the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint’s allegations as true, California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508, 515, 30 L. Ed. 2d 642, 92 S.Ct. 609 (citation omitted)(1972), failed to draw all inferences in favor of the plaintiff, Levy v. Southbrook International Investments, Ltd., 263 F.3d 10, 14 (2d Cir. 2001), and failed to apply the rule that “[d]ismissal of a civil RICO complaint for failure to state a claim is appropriate only when ‘it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with [plaintiff’s] allegations,’” Commercial Cleaning Services LLC v. Colin Serv. Sys. Inc., 271 F.3d 374, 380 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 249-50, 106 L.Ed.2d 195, 109 S.Ct. 2893 (1989)).

Although the District Court stated, “I have … accepted the well-pleaded allegations as true,” Order 3-1, A-133, such treatment is nowhere evident.  From page one, the Court manifested its disbelief by asserting the Complaint “spins a tale of a dark netherworld of international intrigue and deception.”  Order 1-1, A-131.  The Court misrepresented, misconstrued and ignored many pertinent allegations in the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint in order to gerrymander both into fitting its conclusions—reminiscent of the newspaper reporting motto, “Don’t let the facts get in the way of a good story,” only here, it’s don’t let the allegations get in the way of dismissal.  

The District Court failed to accept as true the allegations in the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint concerning: 

· The Enterprise, a.k.a. the Russian mafia, 

· Discovery of the Russian mafia’s Scheme that entangled Hollander,

· Violations of 18 U.S.C. 1962 (“RICO violations”) before August 2000 and after, 

· Injury to Hollander’s law and consulting business and property before August 2000 and after,

· The full extent of the Russian mafia’s Scheme as applied against Hollander, and

· Causation of injuries.

A.  Enterprise

The District Court misconstrued the Complaint by asserting the defendants comprised the entire criminal Enterprise.  Order 1-1, A-131.  The Enterprise is the Russian mafia and the defendants participate in that criminal syndicate (Complaint ¶¶ 1, 15, A-1, 26; Opposition pp 1-1, 3-1, 28-2, 135-2, A-128) by working to achieve its ends and reap its benefits (Complaint  ¶¶ 12, 13, A-26), as would any member or associate of a large non-hierarchical organization.  The defendants do not comprise the entire Russian mafia; they are just part of it and many were active in carrying out the Scheme applied against Hollander.  

A person who is loan-sharked by the Bonanno crime family will not likely run into those who issue fake construction bonds.  No individual will ever be the victim of all of a gang’s illegal acts, nor have contact with all of the gang’s culprits, but the entire gang is still the Enterprise, and all its players joint and severally liable, See, e.g., Scales v. U.S., 367 U.S. 203, 226-27, 6 L.Ed.2d 782, 81 S.Ct. 1469, 1485 (1961); Fleischhauer v. Feltner, 879  F.2d 1290, 1301 (6th Cir. 1989).  The U.S. Senate report on RICO states, “What is needed here … are new approaches that will deal not only with individuals, but also with the economic base through which those individuals constitute such a serious threat to the economic well-being of the Nation.”  Russello v. U.S., 464 U.S. 16, 27, 78 L.Ed.2d 17, 104 S.Ct. 296 (1983)(quoting S.Rep. No. 91-617, p. 79 (1969)).  In this case, that economic base is the Russian mafia of which the defendants comprise some of its members and associates.  

B.  District Court’s Maginot Line of August 2000

The District Court states Hollander discovered the Russian mafia’s Scheme as it applied to him in August 2000.  Order 4-1 & 2, 12-1, A-134, 142.  Not so, Hollander didn’t discover the defendants were engaged in a Russian mob RICO scheme until the end of July 2002 when a consulting attorney first raised the issue.  (Opposition pp 28-2, 37-1, 135-2, A-129.)  Any uncertainty on when Hollander discovered the Scheme could easily be cleared up by an affidavit from that attorney in an amended complaint.  

The District Court failed to draw all inferences in favor of the plaintiff, Levy, 263 F.3d at 14 and failed to apply the rule that “[d]ismissal of a civil RICO complaint for failure to state a claim is appropriate only when ‘it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with [plaintiff’s] allegations,’” Commercial Cleaning Services, 271 F.3d at 379.  An amended complaint and affidavit would show such a “set of facts” despite the Court’s claims that any amended complaint “would be futile,” Order 16-2, A-146, and unable “to truthfully allege more,” Disqualify 5-2, A-154.  It would have disabused the Court of its key misunderstanding of the Complaint on which it relied for attributing the proximate causation of injuries after August 2000 to Hollander’s discovery and subsequent investigation of the Scheme rather than defendants’ RICO violations to protect and further the Scheme.  

C.  Western front of the District Court’s Maginot Line—August 2000 and later—where it conjured a new cause for injuries.


The District Court cherry-picked and misrepresented the Complaint’s allegations in order to wrongly claim that injury to Hollander’s business and property arose from his discovery of the Scheme in August 2000, which led to an “investigation of the Enterprise.”  Order 2-1, 4-1 & 2, 9-1, 11-2, 12-1, A-132, 134, 139, 141-42.  As stated above, Hollander did not discover a RICO Scheme until July 2002, which means the District Court misrepresented the allegations when it stated “as plaintiff himself asserts, any such injury… arose from his discovery of the Scheme in August 2000 and his investigation….” of such, Order 12-1, A-142.  

The Complaint states that in August 2000, Hollander became suspicious of and investigated “… Shipilina’s involvement in prostitution when she began secretly contacting Flash Dancer customers….”  (Complaint ¶ 214, A-43.)  The investigation was to determine whether his wife was a prostitute, not to ferret out Russian organized crime.  The District Court, however, ignored the plain meaning of the Complaint by distorting it to say Hollander became suspicious of defendant Shipilina working for the Russian mafia and its Scheme involving her.  Order 4-1 & 2, A-134.  

Once Hollander learned defendant Shipilina engaged in prostitution, he sought a legal separation and divorce.  (Complaint ¶¶ 220-21, A-44.)  That decision did not result from any suspicion of the Russian mafia’s Scheme because Hollander was still unaware of the Scheme at the time (Complaint ¶ 220, A-44).  Yet, the District Court dissemblingly claims the desire for a divorce as a intervening event: “[p]laintiff alleges, in considerable detail…” that Hollander’s “desire to divorce Ms. Shipilina” resulted in the defendants engaging in criminal acts.  Order 4-2, A-134.  Baloney, the Complaint doesn’t say that.  The Complaint does not allege Hollander’s “desire to divorce” led to RICO violations.  It alleges that certain defendants’ desire to carry out and protect the Scheme until it succeeded in gaining defendant Shipilina permanent residency and U.S. citizenship is what resulted in additional RICO violations that harmed Hollander.  (See Complaint ¶¶ 210-12, A-43.)  The Complaint actually includes an entire subsection titled “VII(E) Enterprise’s Illegal Activities to Protect its Scheme.”  (Complaint ¶¶ 228-319, A 44-52.)

In order to assure success of the Scheme as originally formulated in 1999 to win defendant Shipilina permanent residency and naturalization (Complaint ¶ 164, A-38), Shipilina’s lawyers, defendants Mundy and Petrovich, requested in October 2000 that Hollander to commit perjury before the Immigration and Naturalization Service (“INS”) so as to avoid any immigration problems for Shipilina (Complaint ¶¶ 222-25, A-44).  In November 2000, Hollander refused (Complaint ¶ 226, A-44), and defendants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and others resorted to RICO violations for protecting the Scheme and keeping part of the Russian mob’s operations hidden by: trying to make Hollander lie to the INS (Complaint ¶¶ 228-30, 232-34, 239-41, A 44-45,), using coercion to avoid an annulment-divorce trial (Complaint ¶¶ 243-45, 273, A-46, 48), interfering with pre-discovery and silencing witnesses (Complaint ¶¶ 256-60, 265-72, A 47-48), threatening Hollander out of making a motion for a trial (Complaint ¶¶ 280-84, A-49), attempting to intimidate Hollander into silence before the INS, which was conducting an investigation of defendant Shipilina, and the Krasnodar prosecutor, who had  indicted defendant Inessa Shipilina, (Complaint ¶¶ 285-90, 316-18, A 49-50, 52), intimidating witnesses into recanting their testimony before the Krasnodar prosecutor (Complaint ¶¶ 293-97, A-50), bribing Krasnodar officials to close the case against Inessa Shipilina (Complaint ¶¶ 298-304, A 50-51), attempting to arrest Hollander on a bogus charge (Complaint ¶¶ 306-15, A 51-52), conspiring to commit murder-for-hire (Complaint ¶ 319, A-52), intimidating Hollander to stay out of Krasnodar and not prosecute this RICO action (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 9-10, 12, 13, A 114-115), threatening Hollander again with arrest on a false charge (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 34-38, 43, A 117-118), starting disciplinary proceedings against Hollander to prevent him from proceeding with this RICO case (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 50, 52, 53, A 119-120) and obstructing justice by lying to the District Court (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 59, 61-63, 70, A 120-21).  

The Complaint alleges the desire of certain defendants not to give up on the Scheme but to fight for its success in making Shipilina a permanent fixture for the Russian mafia in America and to keep their activities on its behalf secret (Complaint ¶¶ 238, 243-44, 265, A 45-47) caused them to commit RICO violations after August 2000 (Complaint ¶¶ 479-484, 494, 500-01, 506, 512-13, 514-16, 526-27, 529-31, 542-43, 556-559, 573, 586-87, 592-93, 594, 596-97, 622, 625-26, A 68-73, 75-76, 78-79, 82), and injure Hollander (Complaint ¶¶ 239, 242, 256, 270, 313, 900-907, A 45-48, 52, 111-112).  Alternatively, after Hollander refused to commit perjury before the INS, defendants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and others embarked on a new scheme of RICO violations to crush any obstacles to defendant Shipilina becoming a long-term dollar-maker for the Russian mob—so far a successful effort: over $750,000 tax free in five years.  


The District Court’s devious trek to dismissal partly relies on an incomplete quotation that distorts the cause of harm from criminality by the violators to legal recourse by the victim.  According to the Court, Order 9-1, A-139, the injuries “all arose out of ‘plaintiff’s ongoing investigation of the Enterprise’s Scheme’ (Complaint ¶ 907(a), (d), A-112).”  The Court, convenient for its argument in this section of the Order, left out the last part of that sentence from the Complaint, “in order to prevent and rectify injury to the plaintiff;” (Complaint ¶ 907(a), A-112).  Even had the Court gotten the full quote right, it still got wrong its claim that all alleged injuries arose from investigations.  The Complaint alleges defendants caused injury by using funds from racketeering activities (Complaint ¶¶ 900-903, A 111-112), engaging in racketeering activities to acquire or preserve influence in the Russian mafia (Complaint ¶ 904, A-112) (the Court misconstrued this averment as a 1962(a) violation, Order 12 n.6, A-142), committing predicate acts to further the Scheme (Complaint ¶ 905, A-112), conspiring (Complaint ¶ 906, A-112), impugning Hollander’s business reputation (Complaint ¶ 907(e), A-112), obstructing this RICO action (Supp. Complaint ¶ 76) and engaging in RICO violations before the initial investigation into Shipilina’s prostitution, see below I(E) Eastern front Maginot Line—before August 2000.


The Court again rewrote the Complaint by asserting, “That plaintiff’s claimed damages in this case were caused by alleged retaliation for his discovery [August 2000] and subsequent investigation of the Scheme is highlighted …” in the damages section of the Complaint.  Order 13-2, A-143.  The Court includes a couple of edited quotes and attributes them as coming from five subsections of the Complaint ¶ 907(a)-(e), A-112, when they actually come from only two: (a) and (d)—a neat trick for applying its argument against the other subsections.  In addition, no derivation of the word retaliate appears in either the Complaint or Supplemental Complaint. 


The District Court also inaccurately claims, “The Supplemental Complaint consists of allegations of additional [RICO violations]… as a result of [Hollander’s August 2000] investigation of the Enterprise and its Scheme.” Order 5-3, A-135.  The Supplemental Complaint actually alleges RICO violations that arose out of certain defendants’ efforts to obstruct this RICO action after it was filed in April 2003.  Those violations include a June 4, 2003 telephone call threatening Hollander to stay out of Krasnodar (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 9, 12, A 114-115); an August 25, 2003 threat of arrest based on a fraudulent complaint in order to halt RICO pre-discovery activities in Wisconsin (id. ¶¶ 22-24, 34-38, 43, A 116-118); use of the mails to initiate a state disciplinary proceeding against Hollander that threatened his livelihood and therefore his ability to pursue this RICO action—a not-so-subtle attempt to intimidate him into withdrawing the Complaint (id. ¶¶ 49, 50, 52, 53, A-119); and defendant Shipilina’s obstruction of justice “by filing false and misleading documents in this case,” Order 5-3, A-135, after the Court ordered her to provide addresses for certain defendants, Disqualify 2-1, A-151.  The District Court’s distorting of the Supplemental Complaint and drawing of inferences in favor of defendants rather than plaintiff, contra Levy, 263 F.3d 10, 14, actually results in the Court holding that criminals can use RICO acts to deter a civil RICO suit against them.   


The District Court misconstrued the pleadings about when Hollander discovered the Scheme so as to avoid holding that certain expenses—those from investigations and litigations for preventing and rectifying injuries to business and property—were not compensable, which would contradict Alexander Grant and Co. v. Tiffany Industries, Inc., 770 F.2d 717, 719 (8th Cir. 1985), cert. denied 474 U.S. 1058 (1986); Stochastic Decisions, Inc. v. DiDomenico, 995 F.2d 1158, 1167 (2d Cir.), cert. denied 510 U.S. 945 (1993).  In addition, by claiming those expenses resulted from Hollander determining whether RICO violations occurred, the Court could twist the pleadings into failing to allege causation from the defendants' RICO acts after August 2000 by interposing its invented intervening event.  (See below II(B) Proximate Causation.)

In response to defendants’ predicate and other criminal acts after August 2000, Hollander tried to mitigate harm to his business and property through various investigations and court actions and did not learn until July 2002 that he was up against the Russian mafia.  The District Court ignored this common sense meaning of the Complaint to reach the Orwellian conclusion that when a citizen of the U.S. fights for his rights and redress of grievances, he’s the culprit causing himself harm and not those violating the law to connive something they don’t deserve by quashing him.  The Court apparently believes men should relinquish their rights in such situations.

******

The Complaint and Supplemental Complaint allege that the RICO violations after August 2000 were not caused by Hollander’s acts but the defendants’ efforts to further and protect the Scheme that began against Hollander in 1999.  Had there been no Scheme, there wouldn’t have been those RICO violations.  What good is a scheme if it doesn’t succeed?  And what idiot would initiate a scheme without the intent to do what was necessary to reach its goal?  That goal, as stated over and over in the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint, was to achieve defendant Shipilina, a cash-generating asset of the Russian mafia, permanent residency and naturalization.  In order to reach that goal, differing defendants engaged in RICO violations from the beginning right through to the prosecution of this action. 

Under the District Court’s inventive rewriting of the pleadings to shift causation, criminals can effect whatever harm they wish by violating RICO so long as they do it after a plaintiff learns about a scheme against him.  Perhaps sending him a postcard is sufficient.  And if the victim does not know about the scheme but takes legal steps to put an end to the slings and arrows accosting his business or property, the evildoers can still continue to violate RICO with impunity because they’re only doing it in retaliation to a plaintiff’s efforts to mitigate harm.  So much for the maxim deeply rooted in 1950s American jurisprudence “that no man may take advantage of his own wrong,” Glus v. Brooklyn Eastern District Terminal, 359 U.S. 231, 232, 3 L.Ed.2d 770, 79 S.Ct. 760 (1959).

D.  As for the other allegations of injury after August 2000 that the District Court did not attribute causation to Hollander’s conduct, the Court wrongly dismissed them by invoking the talismans of “general” and “conclusory.”


Unable to assign the causation of other injuries after August 2000 to the District Court’s invented culprit—the discovery of the Scheme—the Court punted those allegations out of the case by labeling them as “general” and “conclusory” of legal status.  Order 12 n.6, 13-2, A 142-43; see Order 5-3, 6-1, A 135-36. 

The District Court’s failure to accept “general allegations” contravened NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994)(quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561, 119 L.Ed.2d 351, 112 S.Ct. 2130 (1992),  “[a]t the pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss we presume that general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.” 


Under the pre-1938 system of code pleading, legal conclusions were prohibited.  But with the modern Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the absurdity of objecting to a complaint for making legal conclusions was illustrated by Professor James, “If one sought to describe a situation having legal significance entirely in words which were devoid of all legal evaluation, the result would be a series of prolix circumlocutions which would serve neither elegance of style nor ease of understanding.”  The Objective and Function of the Complaint: Common Law—Codes—Federal Rules, 1961, 14 Vand.L.Rev. 899, 912-918.  


The District Courts’ reliance on the old codes to reject allegations of injury and causation as conclusions of law is contrary to holdings by the Supreme Court and other courts.  “Whether these charges [in the complaint] be called ‘allegations of fact’ or ‘mere conclusions of the pleader,’ we hold that they must be taken into account in deciding whether the [plaintiff] is entitled to have its case tried,” U.S. v. Employing Plasterer’s Ass’n, 347 U.S. 186, 188, 98 L.Ed. 618, 74 S.Ct. 452, 454 (1954), for “the ancient distinction between “facts” and “conclusions” is no longer significant.”  Oil, Chem. & Atomic Workers Int’l Union v. Delta Ref. Co., 277 F.2d 694, 697 (6th Cir. 1960)(citing U.S. v. Employing Plasterer’s Ass’n, 347 U.S. 186, 188).  A complaint can allege conclusions if they provide defendants with a minimal notice of the claims, Kyle v. Morton High School, 144 F.3d 448, 455 (7th Cir. 1998); see Leatherman v. Tarrant County Narcotics Intel. & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 168, 122 L.Ed.2d 517, 113 S.Ct. 1160, 1163 (1993), which the “some 90 pages and over 900 paragraphs in length,” Order 1-1, A-131, of the Complaint does.  Further, “[a] complaint that complies with the Federal rules of civil procedure cannot be dismissed on the ground that it is conclusory or fails to allege facts.  The Federal rules require (with irrelevant exceptions) only that the complaint state a claim not that it plead the facts if true would establish … that the claim was valid.”  Higgs v. Carver, 286 F.3d 437, 439 (7th Cir. 2002)(Posner, J.)(citation omitted).  Even the Official Forms of the modern Rules plead legal conclusions without specification of the facts, Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civ. 3d 1218.  In addition, conclusory allegations on the legal effect of events are acceptable if they reasonably follow from the plaintiff’s description of what happened.  See Kadar Corp. v. Milbury, 549 F.2d 230, 233 (1st Cir. 1977)(citation omitted).  The Complaint’s 91 pages and the Supplemental Complaint’s eight pages of what occurred imply the legal impact of defendants’ acts as recounted in the allegations of injury.  


The District Court’s concern over conclusory allegations could have been resolved by allowing Hollander one, just one, leave to amend, which would have conformed with the Rules “powerful presumption against rejecting pleadings for failure to state a claim,” Robbins v. Wilkie, 300 F.3d 1208, 1210 (10th Cir. 2002).  Or, the Court could have instructed the defendants to move for a more definite statement under Rule 12(e) if the pleadings failed to specify the allegations in a manner that provided sufficient notice, Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 514, 152 L.Ed.2d 1, 122 S.Ct. 992 (2002).  But the Court didn’t.  

E.  The Eastern front of the Court’s Maginot Line—before August 2000 

As for injuries from RICO violations before August 2000, the District Court simply ignored them.  “The factual allegations detailing these [RICO] activities largely predate plaintiff’s ‘discovery’ of the Scheme in August 2000, and are not alleged to have caused plaintiff injury.”  Order 11-2, 12-1, A 141-42.  

Contrary to the Court’s claims, the Complaint specifically alleges that to further the Scheme defendant Shipilina applied for and fraudulently obtained a U.S. visa (Complaint ¶¶ 135, 136, 514, A-36, 71), which resulted in an initial interruption of two and a half months in Hollander’s law and consulting business from March through May 2000 (Complaint ¶¶ 186, 187, 188, A-40).  The business interruption ended up lasting as a result of subsequent RICO violations until August 2002.  Damages from the business interruption before August 2000 are included in the loss of profits, interruption expenses and loss of business opportunities alleged in the Complaint ¶ 907(a)-(c), A-112.  Furtherance of the Scheme also entailed mail and wire fraud by defendant Shipilina in June and July 2000 so as to trick Hollander into returning to Russia for her at the cost of a round trip ticket for himself and accommodations in Moscow (Complaint ¶¶ 198-204, 515, 516, A-42, 71.)  Other costs to Hollander’s property interests before August 2000 include telephone calls, legal fees, defendant Shipilina’s visa medical, Embassy filing fees and paying for Shipilina’s flight to the U.S. in July 2000 (Complaint ¶ 205, A-42).  Such damages may have appeared small to the District Court, but they weren’t to Hollander.  

F.  District Court improperly narrowed the Scheme. 

The District Court edited down the extent of the Russian mafia’s Scheme pertaining to defendant Shipilina to just gaining her entry into America as a conditional permanent resident.  See Order 11-2, 12-1, 13-2, 14-1, A 141-44.  The Court’s abbreviated version of the Scheme gave it the out to claim the injuries alleged in the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint did not result from “any conspiracy directed” at Hollander,” Order 11-2, A-141; that he “was not a target of the Scheme,” Order 13-2, A-143; and success “depended on a lack of harm” to him, Order 14-1, A-144 (Court’s emphasis).  The Court couldn’t accept the description of the Scheme in the Complaint as true because then its sophistry supporting dismissal would fail.  The pleadings actually allege the Scheme involving Shipilina was to win this Russian mafia asset entry, permanent residency, citizenship and continued financial support from a deceived husband.  (Complaint ¶¶ 164, 179, 190, 192, 207, 209-12, 222, 227, 360-61, 397, 879, 880, 882, A 38-44, 56, 59, 109; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 74, 76, A-122.)  

Under the Complaint’s definition and not the District Court’s revisionism, the Scheme concerning Shipilina wouldn’t be completed until she received citizenship because then the chance of her deportation back to ruble-currency Russia was negligible.  (Complaint ¶ 211, A-43.)  A number of steps were required before defendant Shipilina was ensconced in America as a long-term generator of dollars for the mob: fraudulently obtaining an immigrant visa, conditional permanent residency on entry, permanent residency two years later and naturalization seven years after entry.  Landing in America wasn’t enough, so to assure maximum return, defendants, in addition to illegal acts prior to entry (Complaint ¶¶ 135-37, 190-93, 201-04, 514-16, 519, A-36, 41-42, 71), took actions to assure a valuable asset stayed in America.  They furthered and protected the Scheme by conspiring (Complaint ¶¶ 228, 232, 234, 243, 254, 265, 280, 287, 293, 298, 306, 316, A 44-47, 49-52; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 12, 37, 38, A-115, 118), lulling (Complaint ¶¶ 218-19, 227, 516, A 43-44, 71), targeting (Complaint ¶¶ 227-29, 234, 239-41, 243, 245, 273, 281-83, 288-90, 307-09, 317-19, 494, 506, 518, 530, A 44-46, 48-52, 69-72; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 13, 35, 50, 53, A 114-115, 117, 119), and grinding or attempting to grind Hollander and his witnesses into submission and silence (Complaint ¶¶ 216, 239, 245, 257, 266-68, 273, 282, 289, 297, 308-09, 313, 318, 479, 482, 487, 492, 494, 504, 506, 527, 530-31, 556, A-43, 45-52, 68-70, 72, 75; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 13, 34, 37-38, 52, A 114-115, 117-118).  

Improperly narrowing the Scheme’s purpose allowed the District Court to claim the defendants RICO violations after August 2000 were not part of the Scheme because their “aim,” Order 14-1, A-144, which means “clearly directed intent or purpose,” Webster’s 9th New Collegiate Dictionary, p. 66, “was not to cause injury to plaintiff’s business or property, but rather, to prevent him from interfering with defendant Shipilina’s efforts to obtain legal residency and, therefore, extend the Enterprise’s Scheme into the U.S….”  This bizarre reasoning by the Court that human beings who intended the RICO violations post August 2000 against Hollander did not intend or reasonable foresee harm to Hollander’s business or property by carrying out such acts ignores how people achieve their ends in the real world.  The path to gaining defendant Shipilina full citizenship required “prevent[ing] [Hollander] from interfering,” Order at 14-1, A-144.  So how do hoodlums and lawyers prevent interference with their plans from a professional businessman trying to rectify and prevent injury?  Engage in acts that cost him out-of-pocket expenses, legal fees, time, distraction from his business and loss of reputation and goodwill so that he finally gives up because the price to his livelihood is too great.  The Court ignores that intending an end is meaningless unless the means are also intended.  “Where a racketeering enterprise intends no specific harms to any particular individual, but causes harm by the creation of substantial risk of harm, the victim injured by that enterprise’s harm may have standing….”  Baisch v. Gallina, 346 F.3d 366, 376 (2d Cir. 2003).  RICO violations aimed at the plaintiff are alleged to have harmed his business and property, which included legal fees and the costs of their attendant investigations.  (Complaint ¶¶ 239-40, 242, 256, 270, 274, 313, 900-907, A 45-48, 52, 111-112; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 49, 77, A-119, 122.) 

Alternatively, the Court ignored the natural outgrowth of any criminal scheme—the cover-up, which in itself is a scheme.  Numerous RICO violations were committed in order to pressure Hollander and witnesses and bribe Krasnodar officials and a New York City detective so as to hinder, delay or prevent information reaching federal law enforcement officials about certain defendants’ violations of federal law in conducting the Russian mafia’s Scheme involving Shipilina.  (Complaint ¶¶ 244, 265, 276, 293-97, 298-304, 306-07, 319, A 46-48, 50-52.)  Whether that information was to come by way of testimony in an INS removal proceeding, state court trial or Russian criminal case, it was on its way to federal law enforcement officers until the defendants’ threats and bribes effectively prevented any testimony.  Covering up the Scheme as to Shipilina also protected the Scheme involving other Russian mob prostitutes and members.  (Complaint ¶¶ 882-84, A-109.)  

Alternatively, the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint fairly alleges a series of schemes:

1. Trick Hollander into getting defendant Shipilina into America via a fraudulent marriage and immigration fraud. 

2. Lull, reward or coerce Hollander into perjury before the INS to avoid Shipilina immigration problems.

3. Coerce, kidnap and threaten Hollander into foregoing a trial on annulment or divorce, intimidate his witnesses and cover-up evidence.

4. Coerce and threaten Hollander and others not to cooperate with the INS investigation of Shipilina and cover-up evidence.

5. Coerce and threaten Hollander and witnesses not to cooperate with the Krasnodar prosecutor.

6. Obstruct the prosecution of this civil RICO action.

Whichever alternative is chosen, certain defendants didn’t stop pursuing their goal involving Shipilina with just her entry into America. 

G.  More failures to draw inferences in favor of plaintiff.

The District Court failed to draw all inferences from the Supplemental Complaint in favor of the plaintiff.  The Court stated the Supplemental Complaint “purports to” update the Complaint.  Order 5-3, A-135.  "Purport" means "to profess or claim, especially falsely."  Black’s Law Dictionary, p. 1271, 8th ed.  Since judges are experts in the use of language, the implication is the District Court drew inferences in the wrong direction.

Moreover, the Court also took the time in its decision not just to repeat a defense counsel's objection to the filing of the Supplemental Complaint but to ratchet it up and through a backhanded slap make the objection even more unfavorable to the plaintiff.  Defendant Shipilina’s attorney argued, “[I]t appears that few, if any, of the events cited in the Supplemental Complaint ever really happened….”  (Sach’s August 30, 2004 letter to the Court, emphasis in the original, A-123.)  The District Court deleted Sachs’ qualifier “it appears” and wrote “few, if any, of the events set forth in the Supplemental Complaint ever really happened …,” Order 6-2, A-136.  Then the Court took another swipe at communicating the Supplemental Complaint was bogus by stating “it is not the Court’s role at this stage of the litigation to assess the truth or validity of plaintiff’s allegations, no matter how fanciful they appear or how difficult they may be to prove,” Order 6-2, A-136 (emphasis added).  It’s also not the Court’s role to draw inferences in favor of defendants by tainting the credibility of a pleading with such statements as those, which the Court repeated verbatim in Disqualify 4-2, A-153.

By characterizing the Supplemental Complaint allegations as “[too] difficult to prove,” Order 6-2, A-136, the Court contravened Ideal Steel Supply v. Anza, et al., 373 F.3d 251, 264 (2d Cir. 2004)(citations omitted), which held that evidentiary difficulty is not a proper basis for a dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim. 

II.  Standing

Civil RICO standing applies to “[a]ny person injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of [18 U.S.C. 1962].”  18 U.S.C. 1964(c).  To bring suit, a plaintiff must allege: (1) defendants’ violation of 1962, (2) injury to the plaintiff’s business and property and (3) causation of injury by defendants' violation.  Commercial Cleaning Services, 271 F.3d 374, 380.  The “by reason of” clause in 18 U.S.C. 1964(c) limits standing to plaintiffs who allege the RICO violation was both the factual and proximate causes of the averred injuries.  Commercial Cleaning Services, 271 F.3d at 380.  

The District Court restricted its examination to the injury and causation requirements.  Order at 7-1, A-137.

A.  Injury Errors 


Did the District Court contradict rulings by the U.S. Supreme Court, Second Circuit and other courts on what constitutes an injury to business or property under civil RICO?   

The District Court incorrectly ruled that injuries to Hollander's business reputation and goodwill are not compensable under civil RICO, Order 8-2, 9-1, A 138-39; cast doubt on whether loss of profits, business interruption expenses, loss of business opportunities and expenses for investigating fraud are recoverable, id.; and ignored injury from out-of-pocket expenses, legal fees, delays and inconvenience in prosecuting a lawsuit, defending against a fraudulent restraining order and costs from reliance on false representations.  Civil RICO's remedial purposes are not limited to only compensation for competitive injuries but allow recovery for harm to business or property.  Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 497 n. 15, 87 L.Ed.2d 346, 105 S.Ct. 3275 (1985)(emphasis the Court's).  Since Congress used the disjunctive “business or property,” it must have meant for the terms to cover different although overlapping concepts.  Oscar v. University Students Co-Op. Ass’n, 939 F.2d 808, 810-11 (9th Cir. 1991), rev’d en banc on other grounds, 965 F.2d 783 (9th Cir. 1992); see Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 338-39, 60 L.Ed.2d 931, 99 S.Ct. 2326 (1979).  

The Supreme Court and other courts have held that the nature of a property interest is an individual entitlement determined by state law, Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 430, 71 L.Ed.2d 265, 102 S.Ct. 1148 (1982)(citations omitted); e.g. Isaak v. Trumbull Sav. & Loan Co., 169 F.3d 390, 397 (6th Cir. 1999); Doe v. Roe, 958 F.2d 763, 768 (7th Cir. 1992), and, according to the Supreme Court, the types of interests protected as property are varied, often intangible and relate to the whole area of social and economic fact, Logan 455 U.S. at 430 (citations omitted); contra Oscar v. University Students Co-Op. Ass’n, 965 F.2d 783, 785 (9th Cir. 1992)(en banc)(injury to intangible property not compensable).  Under New York law, property includes anything that may be subject to ownership and includes obligations, rights and other intangibles.  New York Jur.2d, Prop 1.  

Hollander owns and operates his own law practice and business-consulting firm headquartered in New York.  The Complaint alleges injuries to his business and property interests, including out-of-pocket expenses beginning well before August 2000.  (See Complaint ¶¶ 169, 182-83, 197, 204, 220, 239, 242, 246-47, 256, 270, 274, 313, 900-907; Supp. Complaint ¶ 77).  The injuries to Hollander and his business flowed from certain defendants engaging in RICO violations in order to bring the Scheme benefiting defendant Shipilina and the Russian mafia to fruition.  Certain defendants tricked Hollander into sponsoring and paying for defendant Shipilina’s fraudulently obtained immigrant visa (Complaint ¶¶ 135-36, 164, 170, 186, 190-93, 197, A-36, 38-42), lulled him into paying for her flight to America (Complaint ¶¶ 198-205, A-42), attempted to coerce Hollander into lying to the INS that included bringing a fraudulent restraining order against him (Complaint ¶¶ 228, 234, 239-41, A 44-45), sought to prevent an annulment-divorce trial that would expose the Scheme and certain defendants involvement with the Russian mafia (Complaint ¶¶ 243-45, 273, 280-82, A-46, 48-49), intimidated annulment-divorce witnesses from providing pre-discovery information, testifying in discovery or at trial or providing information to the INS (Complaint ¶¶ 265-68, A 47-48), attempted to prevent Hollander from cooperating with an INS investigation into the Scheme involving defendant Shipilina (Complaint ¶¶ 286-90, 316-18, A 49-50, 52), threatened Hollander with two false arrests (Complaint ¶¶ 306-13, A 51-52; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 24-36) and attempted to obstruct this RICO action (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 9, 12, 34-38, 43, 49, 52-53, 59-64, A 114-115, 117-120).  

Concerning the injury to business category, the District Court stealthily confused harm to business reputation and goodwill with a personal injury, Order at 7-3, 8-1 & 2, 9-1, A 137-39, so as to hold that Hollander's injuries to his business reputation and goodwill “are simply not the type of injuries …actionable under RICO,” Order at 8-2, 9-1, A 138-39.  Bolstering this mistake, the District Court wrongly cited “[s]ee Holmes v. Securities Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 265-68, 117 L.Ed.2d 532, 112 S.Ct. 1311, (1992); Manson v. Stacescu, 11 F.3d 1127, 1132-33 (2d Cir. 1993),” Order at 9-1, A-139, where the Supreme Court and Second Circuit didn’t even deal with the definition of business or property injuries at those pages.  Putting the ruse aside, other courts have held an injury to business reputation and goodwill is recoverable under civil RICO.  Khurana v. Innovative Health Care Sys. Inc. 130 F.3d 143 150-51 (5th Cir. 1997) dismissed as moot Teel v. Khurana, 525 U.S. 979 (1998) (violations caused injury to professional reputation); Alexander Grant, 770 F.2d 717, 719 (business damaged in its reputation)
  

Loss of profits from Hollander’s law and consulting business due to interference from the initial success of the Scheme in defrauding Hollander into assisting defendant Shipilina to enter the U.S. prior to August 2000 and, subsequently, from the defendants’ RICO violations to further and protect the Scheme are recoverable.  “When a commercial enterprise suffers a loss of money, it suffers an injury to both its business and property.”  Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 339.  The lost of profits are a compensable injury to business.  Terminate Control Corp. v. Horowitz, 28 F.3d 1335, 1343 (2d Cir. 1994); Philatelic Foundation v. Kaplan, 1986 WL 5629 at * 11 (S.D.N.Y. May 9, 1986), dismissed in part 647 F.Supp. 1344.  The “vast majority of cases” that have addressed the issue of lost profits or expectancy damages have found them recoverable under RICO, Frankford Trust Co. v. Advest, Inc., 943 F.Supp. 531, 533-34 (E.D. Pa. 1996)(citations omitted), while the Supreme Court found future injuries from an antitrust conspiracy recoverable, Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 401 U.S. 321, 339, 28 L.Ed.2d 77, 91 S.Ct. 795 (1971).  

Business interruption and expenses resulting from RICO violations to carry out and protect the Russian mafia’s Scheme from its inception (Complaint ¶ 907(b), A-112) are recoverable and sufficient to withstand a motion to dismiss.  R.A.G. S. Couture, Inc. v. Hyatt, 774 F.2d 1350, 1354 (5th Cir. 1985), Continental Assur. Co. v. Lombardo, 1987 WL 8198 at *2 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 19, 1987).   

The value of business opportunities lost due to RICO violations to carry out and protect the Scheme from its inception, (Complaint at ¶ 907(c), A-112) are compensable.  See Terminate Control Corp., 28 F.3d 1335, 1343; Khurana, 130 F.3d 143, 151-52 (loss of legitimate business opportunity).  

Executing the Scheme resulted in Hollander unwittingly assisting defendant Shipilina’s fraudulent immigration (Complaint ¶¶ 182, 187, 201, 204-05, A-40, 42), defending against a restraining order obtained by perjury (Complaint ¶ 239, 242, A-45, 46), preventing a false arrest from abuse of New York City police authority (Complaint ¶¶ 312-14, A-52), rectifying the defamation of Hollander to witnesses in the annulment-divorce case (Complaint ¶ 271-72, A-48), trying to overcome witness intimidation by Chechen gangsters (Complaint ¶¶ 267, 270, A-48), dealing with interference in gathering information for state and federal court proceedings (Complaint ¶¶ 269-70, A-48; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 12, 38, 52, 62, A-115, 118-120), mitigating threats against Hollander with remedial actions through the Government and courts (Complaint ¶¶ 854-870, A 106-107), and more.  All of which cost Hollander’s business profits, time and opportunities; caused interruption; and damaged his professional reputation and goodwill.  (Complaint ¶ 907(a)-(c) & (e), A-112.)  

In the injury to property category, the annulment-divorce and RICO cause of actions are property interests under RICO.  Malley-Duff & Associates, Inc. v. Crown Life Ins. Co., 792 F.2d 341, 353-54 (3d Cir. 1986), aff’d sub nom., Agency Holding Corp. v. Malley-Duff, 479 U.S. 983, 93 L.Ed.2d 573, 107 S.Ct. 569 (1987); Deck v. Engineering Laminates, 349 F.3d 1253, 1259 (10th Cir. 2003)(citing Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. at 428).  The criminal interference with their prosecution caused expenses, delays and inconvenience, which are an injury to property, Malley-Duff, 792 F.2d at 355.  
A property injury under 18 U.S.C. 1964(c) can be satisfied by allegations of monetary loss, such as out-of-pocket expenses.  Maio v. Aetna, Inc., 221 F.3d 472, 483 (3rd Cir. 2000)(citations omitted).  Out-of-pocket expenses from Hollander’s investigation into and efforts to stop the intimidation of witnesses in the annulment-divorce action (Complaint ¶ 907(d), A-112) are compensable injuries.  Malley-Duff, 792 F.2d at 355; Miller v. Glen & Helen Aircraft, Inc., 777 F.2d 496, 498-99 (9th Cir. 1985).  Legal fees to defend against the fraudulent restraining order and the New York City threat of arrest, to prosecute the annulment-divorce action and halt the defendants’ obstruction of pre-discovery activities are compensable injuries to property.  Handeen v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339, 1354 (9th Cir. 1997); Stochastic Decisions, 995 F.2d 1158, 1167.  Further, allegations of expenses for investigations and efforts to put a stop to and rectify harm (Complaint ¶ 907(d)), which include private investigators and legal expenses, are sufficient to withstand a motion to dismiss.  Philatelic Foundation v. Kaplan, 1986 WL 5629 *9 & *11 (S.D.N.Y, May 9, 1986), dismissed in part 647 F.Supp. 1344; Continental Assur. Co., 1987 WL 8198 at *2; see Alexander Grant, 770 F.2d 717, 719.  

Hollander’s reliance on false representations made by defendant Shipilina over the telephone and by mail to lull him into returning to Russia to bring her to the U.S. so that the Scheme could move forward resulted in out-of-pocket expenses for Hollander’s round trip flight, accommodations in Moscow and defendant Shipilina's flight to America.  (Complaint ¶¶ 198-204, A-42.)  Where defendants fraudulently induce a plaintiff to take actions and make expenditures, the financial injury is compensable under civil RICO.  Standardbred Owners Ass’n v. Roosevelt Raceway, 985 F.2d 102, 104-05 (2nd Cir. 1993).

Damages from the above injuries to business or property can be nominal, Potomac Elec. Power v. Electric Motor & Supply, 262 F.3d 260, 266 (4th Cir. 2001), so an injury to Hollander’s business or property in an amount of one U.S. dollar is sufficient for standing provided the damage was caused by a RICO violation.

B.  Proximate Causation Errors


Did the District Court contravene holdings of the U.S. Supreme Court, the Second Circuit and other courts by wrongly stating and misapplying the proximate causation element for standing under civil RICO on a motion to dismiss?

In NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994), the plaintiff alleged that the RICO conspiracy "had injured the [plaintiffs'] business and/or property interests …" and that a defendant had threatened reprisals.  The Supreme Court concluded that "nothing more is needed to confer standing on [plaintiff] at the pleading stage.”  Id.  The Complaint at ¶¶ 282, 289-90, 309, 313, 318, 900-07, A 49-52, 111-112, and Supplemental Complaint at ¶¶ 2, 34-35, 50, 77, A-114, 117, 119, 122, do that and more, but it is not good enough for the District Court.  In addition, the Complaint provides allegations of RICO violations, such as Complaint at ¶¶ 479-84, 492-94, 500-01, 504-06, 512-13, 514-16, 518, 527, 530, 541-43, 556-59, 573, 586-87, 592-93, 594, 596-97, 600, 606-07, 622, 625-26, A 68-73, 75-76, 78-80, 82, that furthered the Scheme involving Shipilina, injured Hollander and benefited certain defendants from its initiation while the Supplemental Complaint at ¶¶ 16-21, 45-48, 55, 57-58, 69-71, A 115-116, 119-21 refers to more efforts to assure the Scheme’s success that also injured Hollander.
  

******


The District Court didn’t find a passed-on, or derivative, injury problem in which harm flowed to Hollander through a third party as in Holmes, 503 U.S. 258, 268-69.  It instead relied on the proximate cause test of an insubstantial causal link due to an intervening event.  The Court held that intervening event to be Hollander’s August 2000 discovery of the Scheme, which subsequently led to an investigation.  Order 2-1, 11-2, 12-1, 13-2, A-132, 141-43.  Hollander, however, did not discover the Scheme until July 2002, (Opposition pp 28-2, 37-1, 135-2, A-129; Complaint ¶ 220, A-44.)  Disputed claims of causation cannot be decided on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  Knevelbaard Dairies v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 F.3d 979, 989 (9th Cir. 2000).  Besides, taken at face value, the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint do not allege intervening events of a wholly independent nature from the alleged predicate acts.  


Even had Hollander discovered the Scheme in August 2000, federal appellate courts characterize the issue of intervening causation as an evidentiary rather than pleading matter, which is determined by whether defendants’ violations were a substantial factor in plaintiff’s injury.  Smith & Reed, Civil RICO, ¶6.04, p. 6-126.1, 2005 ed.  “[A] RICO case with a derivative-injury problem is better suited to dismissal on the pleadings than a RICO case with a traditional proximate-cause problem (e.g., a weak or insubstantial causal link….”  Trollinger v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 370 F.3d 602, 615 (6th Cir. 2004).  A summary judgment motion under Rule 56 is more appropriate than a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) for handling causal weaknesses that are not the passed-on injury type.  Id., (citing NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256).  Whether injuries are attributable to defendants’ conduct, or to other causes, is normally up to the trier of fact to decide.  Schwartz v. Sun Co., 276 F.3d 900, 904 (6th Cir. 2002)(antitrust case).  But if a court must decide on whether an intervening cause exists for a Rule 12(b)(6) motion in a non-derivative RICO case, it should focus on “the foreseeability that intervening events would cause injury to the plaintiff,” Mid Atl. Telecom v. Long Distance Servs., 18 F.3d 260, 263 (4th Cir. 1994)(citation omitted), because foreseeability of harm from defendants’ misconduct is sufficient to overcome invented assertions that other factors constituted intervening events that proximately caused the injuries.  Once again, assuming Hollander had discovered the Scheme in August 2000, only modern-day political correctionalist claptrap couldn’t anticipate discovery, investigation and efforts to protect property by a man tricked and drugged into a fraudulent marriage for financially supporting and winning a Russian mob asset U.S. citizenship.  (Emphasis added.)  

Regardless of when the Scheme was discovered, the predicate acts committed before August 2000, to gain defendant Shipilina entry into America, required Hollander to initially investigate and incur expenses beginning in that month.  This sufficiently connects the RICO Scheme, even as narrowed by the Court, with those injuries.  Continental Assur. Co., 1987 WL 8198 at *2.

******


The District Court improperly shoehorned the allegations of this case into employee termination suits based on employees refusing to aid and abet RICO violations, exposing illegal acts, being retaliated against or whistle blowing, such as Hecht v. Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 23-24 (2d Cir. 1990)(citing other firing cases), and shareholder derivative action suits, such as In Re American Exp. Co. Shareholder Litigation, 39 F.3d 395, 396 (2d Cir. 1994).  Order 10-1 & 2, 11-1, 12-2 & 3, 13-1 & 2, A 140-43.  Neither the Complaint nor the Supplemental Complaint allege that Hollander was a Russian mafia shareholder or mob employee fired for his refusal to assist in violations or retaliated against for whistle blowing.  

The employee firing cases relied on by the District Court: Hecht, 897 F.2d at 24; Burdick v. American Express Co., 865 F.2d 527, 529 (2d Cir. 1989); and Nodine v. Textron, Inc., 819 F.2d 347, 349 (1st 1987), found that the injuries to those plaintiffs resulted from employers’ decisions to fire them, not the RICO violations they exposed or wouldn’t help.  In this case, there is no firing as an intervening cause because Hollander never worked for the mob.  There are also no whistleblowers despite the Court’s misrepresentation that Hollander “portrays himself in his pleadings as a whistleblower.” Order 12-2, A-142.  A person can’t be a whistleblower unless he was an employee, Mruz v. Caring, Inc., 991 F.Supp. 701, 708-09 (D.N.J. 1998)(referring to “Whistleblower Act” 31 U.S.C. §3730(h)), and he can’t blow the whistle on something before he knows it exists, such as the mob’s Scheme, which Hollander didn’t learn about until July 2002.  The whistleblower cases, as with other employee termination cases, hold the firing decisions caused the injury of an employee’s loss of job, not the employer’s RICO violations.  See, e.g., Hecht, 897 F.2d at 24; Cullom v. Hibernia Nat. Bank, 859 F.2d 1211, 1215 (5th Cir. 1988); Pujol v. Shearson/Am. Express, Inc., 829 F.2d 1201, 1205 (1st Cir. 1987); Nodine v. Textron, Inc., 819 F.2d 347, 349 (1st 1987); Morast v. Lance, 807 F.2d 926, 933 (11th Cir. 1987).  The Complaint and Supplemental Complaint do not allege injury after August 2000 from Hollander’s loss of a job with the Russian mob that he never had.  

Regardless of Hollander’s non-employee status, proximate cause exists for injuries from overt predicate acts in furtherance of defendants’ RICO conspiracies.  Cf. Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 506 n. 10, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 1608 (2000).  The post August 2000 illegal acts by defendants that caused injury by trying to suborn perjury, intimidate and prevent Hollander and others’ testifying in court or at administrative proceedings and interfered with this RICO action included predicate acts (Complaint ¶¶ 479, 482, 492, 494, 504, 506, 530, 531, 541, 556-57, A 68-70, 72-73, 75; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 16, 19, 45, 55, 57, 69, 70, A 115-116, 119-121) taken in furtherance of the RICO conspiracies (Complaint ¶¶ 481, 484, 501, 513, 543, 559, A-68, 70-71, 73, 75; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 18, 21, 47, A-116, 119) to prevent their unraveling from disclosure of the Scheme.  

The District Court’s reliance on shareholder derivative action suits required it to twist, bend, fold and mutilate the Complaint’s allegations into a false pattern that seemingly fitted the fact allegations in American Express so as to reach the same result—dismissal.  American Express, 39 F.3d at 400, held that RICO violations by company officers and employees were not meant to harm the company but benefit it and, in turn, the shareholder-plaintiffs.  The Russian mafia in this case also engaged in RICO violations to benefit itself but there the analogy ends.  Hollander is not a shareholder of the Russian mob, so the defendants’ acts weren’t done to benefit him.  

American Express, 39 F.3d at 400, and Abrahams v. Young & Rubicam, Inc., 79 F.3d 234, 238-39 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 816 (1996), also found the RICO violations did not injure plaintiffs but the revealing of those acts did.  Here, the RICO violations and injuries in the Complaint all occurred before the revelation of the Scheme in July 2002 and its public exposure in April 2003 with the filing of this suit.
  The harm to Hollander from RICO acts between August 2000 and July 2002 did not flow from an exposure as in American Express or Abrahams but from certain defendants’ efforts to protect and finish the Scheme by preventing its exposure.  Predicate acts committed to conceal an ongoing fraud, including money laundering and travel in aid of racketeering, support a finding of proximate causation.  Maiz v. Virani, 253 F.3d 641, 674 (11th Cir. 2001).  The District Court, however, reaches the absurd result that any harm caused by a RICO violation that a criminal group does to protect or conceal a scheme, rather than carrying it out, assuming these two activities can be distinguished in reality, is not the proximate cause of resulting injuries.  Alternatively, the Court required defendants’ RICO violations before August 2000 to be the sole factor in causing injury after that date.  A proximate cause, however, is not the same thing as a sole cause.  Cox v. Admin. U.S. Steel & Carnegie, 17 F.3d 1386, 1399 (11th Cir. 1994).

Accepting the District Court’s premise about exposure in August 2000 as an intervening event would mean that RICO defendants, following the exposure of their first set of RICO violations, could engage in a second set of RICO violations to prevent or deter a plaintiff’s access to law enforcement authorities or the courts for redressing grievances from the first set of illegal acts.  Under the Court’s reasoning, Order 10-1 & 2, 11-1 & 2, A 140-41, defendants would not be liable under RICO for injuries from the second group of violations because that harm was caused by an intervening event: the exposure of the first set.  I don’t think so.  The second set of RICO violations still could have proximately caused injury.  In American Express and Abrahams, there was no second set of RICO violations as here.  An easy way, however, to deal with the Court’s immunity for defendants’ second set of violations is to consider them as carrying out an addendum scheme or new scheme. 


American Express, 39 F.3d at 400, also holds the shareholders were not the intended targets and, according to Lerner v. Fleet Bank, N.A., 318 F.3d 113, 124 (2d Cir. 2003), American Express also held the injuries were not the "preconceived purpose" or "specifically intended consequences" of the RICO acts, therefore, no proximate causation.  The Second Circuit subsequently appeared to reject requiring "specifically intended harm" and "intended victim or target" in Baisch v. Gallina, 346 F.3d 366, 375-76, by favoring the standard: intent to create a risk of harm and substantial risk of injury to the victim.  But in Ideal, 373 F.2d 251, 260, it resurrected the specifically intended victim, or target, element by noting that complaints are dismissed for lacking proximate cause when plaintiff is not an intended victim or target.  With these decisions, the Second Circuit has in effect added the mail and wire fraud requirements of a specifically intended victim or target and, perhaps, specifically intended injury to its proximate cause determination even though mail and wire fraud are specific intent crimes, U.S. v. Chandler, 98 F.3d 711, 715 (2d Cir. 1996), and RICO a statutory tort remedy, Mid Atl. Telecom, 18 F.3d 260, 263 (citation omitted); Bieter Co. v. Blomquist, 987 F.2d 1319, 1329 (8th Cir. 1993).  Allegations of a plaintiff as the specific target and injuries specifically intended are unnecessary for a statutory tort action, see Restatement of Torts 2d, § 548A, and contrary to the Supreme Court's admonition that strict proximate cause requirements not be erected as obstacles to private RICO litigants, see Sedima, 473 U.S. 479, 497-98.


The District Court’s conclusion that a plaintiff must be the intended target of the RICO scheme, Order 9-2, 10-2, 11-2, 13-2, A 139-41, 143, and the alleged injury a preconceived purpose or specifically intended consequence of RICO violations, id. at 10-2, 11-2, 12-1, 13-2, 14-1, A 140-44, is “simply wrong.”  BCCI Holdings (Lux.), S.A. v. Khalil, 214 F.3d 168, 173 (D.C.Cir.), cert. denied 531 U.S. 958 (2000).  Standing to pursue a RICO action exists even without allegations that plaintiff was the intended target.  Khurana, 130 F.3d 143, 151-52 (5th Cir. 1997) (physician not intended target); Terre Du Lac Ass’n, Inc. v. Terre Du Lac, Inc., 772 F.2d 467, 472 (8th Cir. 1985)(citation omitted), cert. denied 475 U.S. 1082 (1986).  “[T]he RICO plaintiff need not be the target of the RICO conspiracy or the intended victim of the RICO predicate acts, as long as plaintiff’s business or property was … injured as a proximate result of the violation.”  Rakoff and Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal, §4.02[7].  In Holmes, the Supreme Court “never suggests … that the only or best way to prove proximate cause is for a plaintiff to prove he was the ‘intended target’ and that the injury was the ‘preconceived purpose’ of the RICO activity.”  BCCI, 214 F.3d at 174.  Regardless of what the Second Circuit requires, the District Court demands both a specifically intended harm and victim, which conflicts with the D.C., 5th, and 8th Circuits.  

In Holmes, 503 U.S. at 267-68, the Supreme Court found the principles for determining proximate cause in Federal RICO and antirust cases to be the same because of the identical statutory language.  The Second Circuit’s Ideal requirement that a plaintiff must be an intended target of defendants’ RICO violations is contrary to present day antitrust proximate causation principles.  Federal courts previously used a target standing test for antitrust causation, Repp v. F.E.L. Publications, Ltd., 688 F.2d 441, 444-45 (7th Cir. 1982), but it has fallen on disfavor.  The Supreme Court expressed dissatisfaction with the antitrust target test in Assoc. Gen. Contractors of Cal. v. Cal. St. Council, 459 U.S. 519, 536 n. 33 & 37, 74 L.Ed.2d 723, 103 S.Ct. 897 (1983), and stated the availability of a remedy “is not a question of specific intent of the conspirators.”  Id. 459 U.S. at 537 (quoting Blue Shield Virginia v. McCready, 457 U.S. 465, 479, 73 L.Ed.2d 149, 102 S.Ct. 2540 (1982)).  Several federal courts subsequently declined to apply the target standing test in antitrust cases.  See, e.g. R.C. Dick Geothermal Corp. v. Thermogenics, Inc., 890 F.2d 139, 146 (9th Cir. 1989); Southwest Suburban Bd. Realtors, Inc. v. Beverly Area Planning Ass’n, 830 F.2d 1374, 1377 n.1 (7th Cir. 1987).  Since the Supreme Court has ruled that proximate causation principles for antitrust are the same for RICO, the Second Circuit and District Court’s use of target standing for RICO contradicts the Supreme Court and other Circuits.  But if it doesn't, the Complaint (¶¶ 135-36, 164, 170, 179, 185, 201-04, 227-30, 234, 239-41, 243, 245, 281-83, 288-90, 307-09, 317-19, 494, 506, 518, 527, 530, A-36, 38-40, 42, 44-46, 49-52, 69-72) and Supplemental Complaint (¶¶ 2, 13, 35, 50, 53, A 114-115, 117, 119) allege Hollander was a target of the RICO violations right from the beginning.  

The District Court even admits Hollander was a target during the first step of the Scheme.  “[T]he success of the Scheme [the first part] depended on a lack of harm to plaintiff, for it was through plaintiff and with plaintiff’s (perhaps unknowing) cooperation that the [Russian mob] hoped to succeed in infiltrating the United States [with defendant Shipilina].”  Order 14-1, A-144 (Court’s emphasis.)  The Court’s “lack of harm” apparently refers to personal, physical harm since Hollander had already been injured to the tune of out-of-pocket expenses and lost business by the time defendant Shipilina entered America on a fraudulent immigrant visa.  (See above I(E) Eastern front Maginot Line.)  

The first step in the Scheme was intended to give the Russian mafia the financial advantage of transposing one more asset to the lucrative American market at the expense of Hollander.  Next when faced with Hollander’s refusal to yield to certain defendants’ lulling and coercive practices (Complaint ¶¶ 226-233, A 44-45), the mob imposed further sanctions on Hollander with additional coercion (Complaint ¶¶ 239-43, 245, 257, 259, 273, 281-84, 287-90, 306-09, 316-18, 319, A 45-52), which the District Court also admits targeted Hollander: “plaintiff’s resistance to and investigation of the Scheme is what the predicate acts … were designed to prevent,” Order 14-1, A-144.  Such coercive efforts sufficiently plead proximate cause.  See McCready, 457 U.S. 465, 483 (antitrust standing).  The District Court, however, in relying on Manson v. Stacescu, 11 F.3d 1127, 1132-33 (2d Cir. 1993), guilefully holds that threats to stop a person from investigating a scheme cannot proximately harm a person’s business or property.  Order 14-1, A-144.  Manson did not reach that conclusion; instead, it held the harm to Manson was derivative of the injury to the company of which he was president, which under Holmes meant no proximate cause.  The Complaint here does not allege threats injured Russian Mafia, Inc. and that injury passed through to Hollander.  There is no third person or entity between the threats and Hollander. 

Concerning foreseeability, the Court makes the conclusory statement based on its core misrepresentation of the Complaint, the Maginot Line, “That plaintiff would put his legal and consulting business on hold [in August 2000] to investigate the Enterprise simply is not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the predicate acts…”  Order 14-1, A-144.  Hollander first put his business on hold from March to May 2000 (Complaint ¶¶ 187-88) to assist defendant Shipilina in obtaining her immigrant visa from the Moscow Embassy.  And no, Hollander didn’t know Shipilina was perpetrating a fraud at that time.  After putting his business on hold once as a result of predicate acts to permanently transplant a mob asset to America, a reasonable criminal could easily foresee it happening again in order to determine whether his wife was a prostitute and deal with threats, intimidation and fraudulently instigated court and police actions.  Besides, Hollander falls into the foreseeable class of immediate victims because he was a customer, albeit an unwitting one, of a Russian mafia prostitute trying to continue her work for the Russian mob in the U.S.  American Express, 39 F.3d at 399)(no proximate cause since plaintiff not a target, competitor nor customer of the racketeer, citing Sperber v. Boesky, 849 F.2d 60, 64-65 (2d Cir. 1988)); (Complaint ¶¶ 136-40, 360-61, A-36, 56.)

******

 The District Court failed to address proximate causation of injuries that occurred before August 2000 from RICO violations by falsely claiming the Complaint did not allege any injuries from such activities.  “The factual allegations detailing these activities largely predate plaintiff’s ‘discovery’ of the Scheme in August 2000, and are not alleged to have caused plaintiff injury.”  Order 11-2, 12-1, A 141-42.  The Complaint, however, avers certain defendants tricked Hollander into sponsoring and paying for defendant Shipilina’s fraudulently obtained immigrant visa (Complaint ¶¶ 135-36, 182-83, 186, 190-93, 197, A-36, 40-42), defendant Shipilina made false representations by telephone and mail between the U.S. and Russia in order to lull Hollander into returning to Russia so as to bring her to America, which included the cost for Shipilina’s flight, Hollander’s round-trip flight and accommodations in Moscow (Complaint ¶¶ 198-205, A-42), and the Scheme caused Hollander to put his law and consulting business on hold (Complaint ¶¶ 187-88, A-40), which resulted in loss of profits, loss of business opportunities and business interruption expenses for which the amounts are included in the figures at Complaint ¶ 907(a)-(c), A-112.

The District Court also avoided the proximate cause issue for the injuries after August 2000 that it didn't claim resulted from Hollander’s “discovery of the Scheme.”  The Court disregarded these allegations as “general” and “conclusory,” see section I(D) above.  The Complaint, however, sufficiently alleged injury from use of racketeering funds to finance the Scheme, from use of racketeering activities to acquire or preserve influence over Russian mob activities, from overt predicate acts to further conspiracies (Complaint ¶¶ 900, 904-06, A 111-112) and damage to professional reputation and good will from false allegations, such as those in a restraining order, report to police and threat of arrest (Complaint ¶¶ 229-32, 234, 239, 271, 309-14, 907(e), A 44-45, 48, 51-52, 112).  The Supplemental Complaint sufficiently alleged causation of injuries from defendants’ efforts to obstruct this RICO action (Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 2, 12, 34-36, 38, 43, 49, 52, 59-63, 77, A 114-115, 117-120, 122).  

III.  Leave to Amend Errors 


Did the District Court abuse its discretion by fabricating a fact, creating a Catch-22, using a trivial excuse and relying on its key misrepresentation of the Complaint to slam the door on even one leave to amend the Complaint?


The District Court lied when it stated, “Plaintiff made no request to file an amended Complaint in the event the motions to dismiss were granted,” Order 16-2, A-146.  Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition p. 41-2, A-129, states, “If this Court dismisses the Complaint or part of it under Rule 12(b)(6), then the plaintiff requests leave to amend.”  Plaintiff also made similar requests with respect to specific issues throughout his Memorandum in Opposition pp. 49-1, 70-2, 76-2, 119-3, A-130.

******

The Court created a legal Catch-22 for plaintiffs who dare file a supplemental complaint after receiving defendants’ motions to dismiss but before a court decides those 12(b)(6) motions.  The Catch-22 works by assuming the purpose of an amended and supplemental complaint are the same, defendants’ motion to dismiss arguments are accurate and plaintiff can divine which of those arguments a court will use for its decision before it occurs: “[H]aving been fully apprised of the bases for the motions to dismiss,” Order 16-2, A-146, [plaintiff] “was fully aware of the asserted [that means alleged] pleading deficiencies raised in the motion to dismiss and, with those assertions [allegations] in hand, he sought to supplement his complaint,” Disqualify at 5-2, A-154.    

Supplemental complaints are for “setting forth transactions or occurrences or events which have happened since the date of the pleading sought to be supplemented.”  Rule 15(d).  Amended pleadings incorporate events that occurred prior to the filing of the original pleading, but were either overlooked or not known at the time, Slavenberg Corp. v. Boston Ins. Co., 30 F.R.D. 123, 126 (S.D.N.Y. 1962), and are used to cure deficiencies in an original complaint.  

The Court erred in holding the Supplemental Complaint an amended complaint.  It stated, “Plaintiff is correct that there is nothing inappropriate with seeking to cure a pleading deficiency called to one’s attention by an opposing party.”  Disqualify 5-2, A-154.  The plaintiff never said that, the Supplemental Complaint never said that.  Both stated, “The events included in this supplemental complaint happened after the original Complaint was filed on April 18, 2003.”  (Supp. Complaint ¶ 1, A-114.)  The Supplemental Complaint was not filed in response to alleged “pleading deficiencies raised in the [defendants] motion to dismiss,” Disqualify 5-2, A-154, it was filed because of predicate acts engaged in by the defendants after the Complaint had been filed.  But the Court ignored this so as to conclude, “the supplemental pleading added nothing of material significance to cure the deficiencies in [plaintiff’s] allegations,” id.  Deficiencies that wouldn’t be known until the Court rendered its decision.  

By simply updating the Court on recent harm caused by defendants, the Court jumped to the Orwellian conclusion that plaintiff was trying to correct deficiencies in his Complaint that he wouldn’t learn about until some time in the future when the Court made its decision.  Under such reasoning, all plaintiffs must use a Doctor Who telephone booth to determine the Court’s criticism, so they can cure it before the Court makes its decision.  Or, just as bizarre, plaintiffs should adopt defendants’ interpretation of the law and objections as true, which means the courts might as well throw out all complaints since that’s where defendants’ objections lead on a motion to dismiss—that’s why it’s called a motion to dismiss.  So much for the courts as a means to resolve disputes.

The implication of the District Court’s reasoning is that when a plaintiff files a supplemental complaint under Rule 15(d) after being served with defendants’ motions to dismiss but before the Court rules on those motions, it legally follows that plaintiff will be unable to amend his original complaint under Rule 15(a) so as to cure a subsequent dismissal because the plaintiff cannot “truthfully allege more,” Order 5-2, A-154, since he already filed a supplemental complaint.  Therefore, when a supplemental complaint is filed, an amended complaint must also be filed that addresses the Court’s objections, which plaintiff will not learn about until some point in the future; otherwise, plaintiff forfeits any opportunity to amend the original complaint under Rule 15(a).  A nice Alice in Wonderland tactic that turns on its head the policy: “Where plaintiff seeks an opportunity to amend his complaint in order to meet the objections stated by the trial court, we feel that he should be accorded such an opportunity.”  Austin v. House of Vision, Inc., 385 F.2d 171, 172 (7th Cir. 1967), appeal after remand, 404 F.2d  401 (7th Cir. 1968). 

******

The District Court improperly considered the “sheer length and detail” of the Complaint as constituting a legal reason for denying leave to amend.  Order 16-2, A-146, see id. at 1-1, 3-1, A-131, 133.   “The fact that a brief of such length was filed by plaintiff had bearing on whether plaintiff had a full and fair opportunity to advance his arguments and also on the issue of whether the Court, on its own motion, should grant plaintiff leave to further replead.”  Disqualify 3-2, A-152.  Just because a RICO complaint is long by the standards of other causes of action is no reason to deny leave to amend.  The length and detail of a complaint depends on the subject matter, the type of claims presented and the number of the parties involved.  See Dublin Distribs. Inc. v. Edward & John Burke, Ltd., 109 F.Supp. 125, 126 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. 1952)(antitrust pleading).  The more complex the litigation becomes, the greater the amount of detail that will appear in the pleadings.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civ. 3d 1281, p. 707.  A complaint charging RICO violations by a crime syndicate will recite numerous acts and circumstances and not be a short statement of a claim as the word “short” is used in pleading on a contract or in negligence.  Cf. Rivioli Operating Corp. v. Loew’s Inc., 7 F.R.D. 219, 223 (W.D.N.Y. 1947)(antitrust complaint).  The Complaint’s length was necessary to plead the complex and intertwined workings of a segment of the Russian mafia to put the injuries to Hollander into context.  The Russian mob is the archetypal, intimidating, mobster organization RICO seeks to eradicate.  See Russello v. U.S., 464 U.S. 16, 26-27, 78 L.Ed.2d 17, 104 S.Ct. 296 (1983).  Further, Federal Rule 8(a)(2) requires a short and plain statement for each claim, not a short complaint, so length should not be relied on, even in part, to deny leave to amend.

******

Citing “see Manson, 11 F.3d at 1133,” the District Court contends, “Even the most liberal reading of the Complaint and Supplemental Complaint fails to indicate that, however restated, any valid claim would survive,” so any amendment, even one, would be futile.  Order 16-2, 17-1, A 146-47.  Manson was a derivative, or passed-on, injury case; therefore, denying leave to amend was appropriate since amended pleadings couldn’t change the situation of plaintiff’s injury flowing through a third party, which meant no proximate cause.  Trollinger, 370 F.3d 602, 615.  The harm to Hollander does not derive from injury to a third party.  Further, one amendment would disabuse the Court of its mistaken but core finding that Hollander “alleged injury … arising out of his discovery of [the] Scheme,” which led to an investigation of the Enterprise beginning in August 2000.  Order 2-1, 4-2, 9-1, 11-2, 12-1, A-132, 134, 139, 141-42.  The Court used its alleged August 2000 discovery as an intervening event to justify ruling that any sufficiently averred injuries suffered after that date were not proximately caused by defendants’ Scheme or RICO violations.  An amended complaint, in addition to other truthful allegations, would make clear to even the District Court that Hollander did not discover the Scheme until two years later in July 2002.  

******

The District Court abused its discretion under Milanese v. Rust-Oleum Corp. 244 F.3d 104, 110 (2d Cir. 2001), by denying leave to amend the Complaint through (1) clearly erroneous findings of fact that Hollander failed to request leave to amend and discovered the Scheme in August 2000, (2) mistaken applications of the law that a supplemental complaint is an amended one and the “sheer length and detail” of a complaint is a legal basis for denying leave to amend and (3) inventing a Catch-22 rule that filing a supplemental complaint before a court’s decision on dismissal motions also requires an amended complainant to correct the faults that a court may find in its future decision.

IV. Due Process Violations

Did the District Court violate the plaintiff’s due process rights by mixing pro se and attorney standards in deciding to dismiss with prejudice and ignoring the policy behind Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(d) for allowing supplemental complaints?

A.  Pro se v. Attorney

The District Court violated Hollander's due process rights by using the pro se standard for construing the Complaint, Order 7-2, A-137, while applying the attorney standard as a reason not to grant leave to amend, Order 16-2, A-146; Disqualify 5-2, A-154.  The impact of mixing the standards is that it allowed the Court to create the false impression of liberally analyzing the pleadings in favor of a pro se plaintiff, Order 7-2, A-137, while doing its best to make sure it never saw this case again, Order 16-2, A-146; Disqualify 5-2, A-154, by applying a higher standard to deciding against even one leave to amend. 

B.  Policy Behind Supplemental Complaints

The District Court violated Hollander's due process rights by punishing him for acting in accord with one of the basic policies of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure “that a party should be given every opportunity to join all of his grievances against other parties regardless of when they arose,” Wright & Miller, Federal Prac. and Proc.: Civ.2d § 1506.  The Court wrongly treated the Supplemental Complaint as an amended complaint and used that faulty conclusion to punish Hollander for filing the Supplemental Complaint by denying him leave to amend the Complaint once following the Court’s decision.  Disqualify 5-2, A-154.  

CONCLUSION


The District Court considers pleading civil RICO actions a game of skill in which any misstep, real or imaginary, will be decisive for dismissal.  Contra Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 48, 2 L.Ed.2d 80, 78 S.Ct. 99 (1957).  


Plaintiff-Appellant requests the dismissal be vacated.

Dated:  August 9, 2005
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� Complaint ¶ 905, A-112, did not intend to claim RICO damages for “imperil[ing] [Hollander’s] safety, life, liberty and right not to live in fear.”  Such expectancies no longer exist for a man in America. 


� Threatening an attorney admitted to practice in the federal courts is not an 18 U.S.C. 1503 violation, sorry about that.


� The District Court claims RICO violations occurring before August 2000 “are not alleged to have caused plaintiff injury,” Order at 11-2, 12-1, but the Court lies (perhaps unknowingly), see above § I(E) Eastern front of the District Court’s Maginot line.  
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